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  The more you try to describe the minute detail, the more confused the reader will become, and the more the reality of the thing itself recedes.


  LEONARDO DA VINCI
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  Celia: For Being There


  


  In the sky, a moon


  on your face, a mouth.


  In the sky, many stars


  on your face, only two eyes.


  POEM, OTOMÍ CULTURE


  The Maya Creation Story


  Popol Vuh, the Book of the People


  This is the account of when all is still, silent and placid. The face of the earth has not yet appeared. Alone lies the expanse of the sea, along with the womb of all the sky. There is not yet anything gathered together. All is at rest. Nothing stirs. All is languid, at rest in the sky. There is not yet anything standing erect. Only the expanse of the water, only the tranquil sea lies alone. There is not yet anything that might exist. All lies placid and silent in the darkness, in the night.


  


  Journal of Christopher Columbus


  13 and 14 October 1492, the first two days after landfall in the Americas


  The people are also very gentle. Since they long to possess something of ours, when they have nothing, all that they do possess, they give.


  They can all be carried off to Castile or held captive in the island itself, since with fifty men they could all be held in subjection and forced to do whatever may be wished.


  Part 1


  The Anvil in the Sea


  1. General Map of Central and Southern Mexico
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  To Begin at the End


  Time is about to end. Again.


  I woke in my room above the lagoon of Río Lagartos, on top of the Yucatán peninsula, with a sharp wind whistling at the windows. Sixty-five million years ago, a large meteorite struck the sea beyond the lagoon and exploded, throwing our planet into twilight, killing the dinosaurs, and creating opportunities for puny creatures called mammals to prosper. The disaster opened the door for the evolution of humans.


  Magnificent frigatebirds posted unmistakable silhouettes: a long, deeply-forked tail, and angular wings, longer than those of all but the greatest albatrosses, which jut forward at the central joint on the leading edge of the each wing. They streaked past at eye-level, pterosaur shapes slipping through time cracks to cast Jurassic shadows on the earth. Below me boats were bumping each other and the stocky wooden piers, but when I went onto the terrace the wind was warm, and chinks of sun were wedging open the low clouds and prising them apart, lighting up stripes of ripples on the lagoon.


  This is Mexico, where time runs in cycles. Because time is cyclic, beginnings are also endings, and endings are beginnings. Aztec and Maya historians looked at unfolding events, which had all happened before, and studiously corrected errors in ancient accounts, to better understand them the next time they came round.


  I was planning my last excursion after four months’ travelling through Mexico in the footsteps not just of the Conquistadors, but of the first Americans, who ruled sophisticated cities and empires dating back to the time of Homer. I tried to rein in my excitement because today was chancy. I had tried to reach Cabo Catoche four months ago. On my maps, every road coming from the east petered out. The sea was no easier. Currents, coral and limestone reefs maze the shallows: tinglingly beautiful but able to tear a hull apart. I wanted to get there because the first real contact between people of the continental New World and the Old took place along this coast, at the north-east corner of the Yucatán Peninsula, the anvil on which the Caribbean beats. Cabo Catoche is the name that Spanish ears heard when they came ashore here, and listened to the Maya saying Cones catoche: that is ‘Come to our houses.’ The hand that wrote down those words for us belonged to twenty-four-year-old Bernal Díaz, and without this literate soldier, our picture of the human contact between these two worlds would usually remain monochrome. He can make it blaze into colour; he can touch your heart not just for the grandeur that was destroyed, but also for the working soldiers, racked by wounds and fevers, who tore the riches to the ground, and trampled on them in patched-up sandals.


  In 1517, three ships under Díaz‘s commander, Francisco de Córdoba, were probing westwards along the Yucatán Peninsula. By 4 March they were twenty-five days into the voyage. One of the ships had been bought on credit from the Governor of Cuba, Diego Velázquez, accompanied by his illegal demand that they take slaves from other islands to pay him. They refused. A contemporary of Velázquez with no grudge against him defined him as ‘covetous of honour, but even more so of wealth.’ Velázquez became the sponsor, then the persecutor of Hernàn Cortés, who would force his way across Mexico with Velázquez’s hirelings snarling at his heels.


  Cabo Catoche seemed impossible to get to. I looked again at satellite images on my iPad. There was a road from the west heading twenty miles to Cabo Catoche, but it was a sand track, crossed by rivers and cut by the necks of lagoons. Zooming in on the satellite imaging, I saw that if I could get to Holbox Island, I might reach Cabo Catoche from the sea.


  In a packed colectivo, a stop-on-demand minibus, patient locals made room for my backpack among sacks and a second-hand microwave. Someone hailed the man in the front seat as Pachoyo!, Maya for driver. In fifty minutes I was behind Willy’s supermarket in the little town of Tizimin, looking for the bus to Chaquilá, the ferry port for Holbox Island.


  Holbox is a chill-out and dive centre whose selling point is the chance to swim with whale sharks, but it was not the season for the world’s largest fish, and things were quiet. It had been raining hard, and water filled the sandy streets which, four or five town blocks to the north, meet the opposite shore. Two months before, a high tide, fuelled by a storm surge driven before a cold front, had poured through the streets of the island’s only village, from shore to shore.


  Local fisherman Pablo captained a fibreglass boat with new twin sixty horse-power Yamaha engines. He knew Cabo Catoche and could take me there. I mentioned another place, Bahía Iglesia, or Church Bay.


  There was a change in his eye. He said, ‘No one ever goes there.’ ‘Have you been there?’ I asked.


  ‘Yes, but it was,’ he paused and frowned, as if surprised by his own recollection, ‘over twenty years ago.’


  ‘Is the church still there?’


  ‘Who knows?’


  A Spanish Colonial church from the early 1500s was buried in the mangrove swamps.’ I want to go to Catoche and the church.’


  He said, ‘Yes, but not today.’ Hope shrivelled.


  ‘East wind. In Holbox we have some lee, but the channels leading to the church are on the other side of Cabo Catoche.’


  I drive small craft myself. Conditions did not look tough for a twenty-foot boat. Was he trying to avoid going?


  I had two further days left. He didn’t like the next day either, but late in the afternoon, the wind fell, and squadrons of brown pelicans, flying in lines offshore, passed by lower and slower. Tomorrow would be my last chance.


  At dawn I swam. A great egret on an offshore rock let me glide closely by, the yellow eye-ring circling the dark pupil. It was calm.


  Pablo was fifty-five, wiry, with neat hair, a striped polo shirt, and cut-off denim shorts. We planed east along the seaward side of Isla Holbox. The sky was ultramarine, and the sea pale jade. Neo-tropic cormorants squibbed underwater, and burst back into the light, cowls of water sheering from their olive plumage.


  I pictured how the shore would look if, like the Spanish, I had been nearly a month at sea, out of Cuba: mute. The land seen from the sea gives away nothing about the interior. The edge of the limestone plateau which forms the body of the Yucatán is low, but Holbox is two-dimensionally flat. It forms a slender island a mile wide, extended west like a cricket’s leg from the peninsula’s north-east corner, enclosing a shallow lagoon five miles north to south. The beach is white sand the width of a dirt road. No land rises over thirty feet, so the hinterland was invisible. Outside the village, the skyline is not the tropical signature of palm fronds lazing on slender grey trunks. All that presents itself to any stranger, seeking explanations, or at least clues, is a soft fuzz of feathery cypress branches whisking the air. But from their ships’ masts, perhaps fifty feet up, the Spanish spied a town bigger than any encountered in twenty-five years’ exploration of the Caribbean. ‘This land was as yet undiscovered,’ said Díaz, but they would hear cries they did not heed, telling them they were not the first.


  The Spanish model for alien culture was the Moors, so they called this town ‘the Great Cairo.’ On the morning of 4 March, ten large dugout canoes, left the shore with up to forty men in them, and approached under sail and oar, displaying no fear. More than thirty men boarded the Spanish flagship, where they showed great interest in its construction. The Spanish offered each a string of green beads: a fortunate choice, since green stones enjoyed high status among the Maya.


  Whatever was communicated was done by sign language. The Maya chief would return next day with enough canoes to ferry them ashore, which he did ‘with a smiling face and every appearance of friendliness’. The Spanish would not have known they had landed on an island, or that they were not walking to the Great Cairo, which was on the other side of the lagoon.


  They took all the arms they could carry, including steel swords, crossbows and muskets: all unknown in the New World. They followed a road until it reached some low hillocks, where the chief yelled an order. The first flight of arrows wounded thirteen Spanish. The Maya followed up with lances, and slings, which at close quarters were as effective as muskets. The Spanish unleashed a counter-attack and drove off their attackers, leaving fifteen of them dead. They also seized two Natives both cross-eyed which the Maya considered a sign of beauty. The Spaniards’ treatment of them set the tone for the next three hundred years. They were not treated as citizens of sovereign states, or prisoners of war. They were baptised and re-named, like pets or livestock: Julian and Melchior. We do not now know their real names.


  There is no doubting Spanish courage. They marched on, into enemy territory, reaching a small square with masonry temples, containing gold and copper items which they stole, along with ceramic figures ‘which seemed to represent Indians committing sodomy.’ Detecting sodomy would become an obsession, because it was a hallmark stamping the practitioners with heresy, and heretics had no rights.


  Cabo Catoche was marked by a lighthouse until the storm of November 2013 smashed the tower into the sea, where it measures its length in broken masonry. As we moored at the short pier, made from bags of sand and cement laid in the water, brown pelicans shuffled from one paddle-sized foot to another.


  Behind the pier stood the ground-floor offices of the lighthouse and alongside it the twisted pylon of its radio tower. A homemade ladder gave access to the roof. When I straightened it to climb, it hinged into a line of lozenges. Pablo reminded me where the nearest hospital was, and I settled for visiting the offices. The seaward doors had held firm and the interior was orderly. I was leafing through the keeper’s maintenance record for 1912, when the door opened and a muscular man entered, bare-chested because his shirt was tied across his face. He was holding a long knife and a piece of steel. He growled, then dropped his shirt to reveal grinning teeth in a black beard.


  ‘Pablo!’


  ‘Luis!’


  Pablo embraced him. ‘Luis is a fisherman; they make camp here to cook and sleep.’ We shook hands. I saw that the length of steel was a long pair of barbecue tongs. I picked round their camp, the floor strewn with coconuts, delivered by gravity, and piles of empty bottles of vodka, gin and Sol beer.


  After this skirmish, the Spanish sailed on. It was a reconnaissance mission, and their chief pilot was convinced the Yucatán Peninsula was an island, plausible given its very low relief and swift coastal currents.


  Pablo and I continued east to the more remote inlet of Bahía Iglesia. The cypresses thinned, and the mangrove trees crowded closer to the sea, compressing the beach. Here and there a Maya-style hut appeared with an oval plan and thatched roof. Pablo edged up to a homemade buoy topped by a ballroom mirror ball, and marking the entrance to two broad channels. The mangroves stepped out on their angular roots into the brackish water, slowing the current, causing more mud to be deposited. It was colonising the sea, abetting the land to creep out and smother it.


  Pablo nosed slowly in; forked choices opened up. I crouched in the bow watching for sandbanks, observing the current comb the head-sized clumps of weed; small fish wove through gorgon hair. The channel narrowed, but he kept on; branches on either side began to touch, then interlace. A dislodged lizard fell in my lap. The channel entered a pool with no outlet. We tracked every channel. They all closed on us. Pablo slid from quiet confidence to head-shaking. ‘The church is over there,’ he waved an arm towards the heart of the labyrinth. ‘But, twenty years, it’s grown so much. Everything is narrower.’


  He went up the coast a mile before heading into an even remoter channel. We were soon pushing mangrove branches off our heads again. Each probe ended with us wedged tight, and the boat was a pig to reverse. Pablo was one of those rare people who can be taciturn without seeming unfriendly, but I could see what he was thinking, and wasn’t surprised when he said, ‘The tide has started to fall. There is one more place, but it is very shallow.’ We backtracked two miles into the main lagoon through a channel so shallow that an egret fifty yards out from the mangrove was standing only ankle deep. There was a faint stippling on the surface of lagoon, because every few yards a single shoot stood like a thin whip with a bud at the tip. The mangrove had seeded across the entire lagoon; it would soon be land, and the church a folk-tale. In the middle of the lagoon, he slowed to a crawl and I heard the stems of the engines rasping through the sediments, before we returned to deeper water. With four o‘clock approaching, our deadline if we were to return in daylight, I saw something rising above the vegetation. There was a slight ridge running along the mainland shore, and at its high point a small block of masonry: my binoculars showed me a church tower.


  We anchored in a shallow bay, took off our shoes, and I tried not to think about the soft things my toes felt in the glue-like sediments. The shore was a two-yard wide band of stinking black mud, then some stinking brown mud, then a narrow trail. In ten yards it was dry and we were gently climbing through woodland when, through the underbrush, I glimpsed ruins.


  I was walking back five hundred years into free-floating time, to the brief years in which the only the fringes of the Americas were known to Europeans. A pile of stones and a huddle of men were left here with the task of completing the conversion of the heathens of two continents.


  The friars, with their subject Natives, laboured in the hardest of conditions to build something that mattered to them, that would stop their own souls from disappearing into the maw of malevolent time. As the Spanish arrived in the New World, eight hundred years of Arab rule in Spain had just ended. On 6 January 1492, four days after the surrender of Grenada, the young Caliph Boabdil gave the keys of the Alhambra Palace to Queen Isabela of Castile and King Ferdinand of Aragon. The heretic Moors were driven out or forced to convert, and Moorish tolerance was also expelled; before the end of year, the Jews were given the same option. Spanish armies had triumphed in Italy, and their ships were opening up West Africa, and colonising the Canaries. In the Americas, a new hemisphere of creation had been revealed to them by God. The world was approaching its culmination, the last work was to convert all those Natives who would listen to his word. Columbus had pored endlessly over religious works to calculate the timing of the last days, and concluded they were coming in 1650. Many agreed.


  God would draw the ages of the world to a close. There could be no further use for the earth, and the physical universe would be destroyed. Experiment over; close the laboratory. Mesoamerican time, in the lands from Central Mexico down to Costa Rica, would revolve through its final cycle until the end of the fifth sun. Four have already passed. So Spanish time and Aztec time were ending; two cultures were acting out the last days.


  This religious duty was all the more remarkable because few came to help. There were often more churches than friars. I would like to summarise the history of Bahía Iglesia, but I found none, except it seems to have been abandoned after 1650: that date again. Ahead, on the right, was a half-clearing with rough stone masonry. I stepped over a low wall and into a yard. I first took the ruins to be a church, but I soon realised there was no tower; this was not the building I had seen from the lagoon. Ducking under a stone lintel, I entered another yard which led into two dark strong-rooms, with small windows still barred by crude wooden poles. This block was their store and dormitory.


  The trail passed by the side of these, veered left, and continued up the gentle slope. Two zebra-winged butterflies circled me before disappearing into the forest on stuttering wing-beats. Caterpillars for so long, they revelled in the miracle of flight, briefly given. I felt a deeper silence waiting. Sunlight on the path ahead signalled a clearing. In a moment I was staring at the massive tower of a church. The nave was roofless and, with knee-high vegetation, had the air of a neglected vegetable garden. The altar and transepts were almost intact, though dilapidated; no one lived near enough to rob the stone, precious in this region. My boots disturbed the ground and, recognising the sharp smell, I looked up. Needle eyes stared down from a ceiling carpeted with brown velvet knuckles: bats, symbols of death and darkness. Because in flight they pluck fruits from a tree, fruit bats were associated in Native cultures with decapitation and sacrifice.


  The church was a dream strangled by the relentless gods of vegetation, of the cycle of death and rebirth, of time that seemed to pass, but just went round and round, going nowhere: a victory for the older gods.


  Pablo kept looking at his watch. The tide was still falling over the sandbanks we had barely scraped over an hour before.


  Contemplating the ruins at Bahía Iglesia, I wondered whether their confidence in setting up in this green wilderness was a touching sign of unshakeable faith, a project of the highest hubris, or just plain mad. 1650 has come and gone, and domesday is always approaching but never arrives.


  The Maya creation myth, the Popol Vuh describes the creation as if it is happening in real time in front of the author and the reader, which is as it should be. A myth is something that happened before time, something that never happened and something that is always happening. It is truer than the things that happen in secular life and time, so it does not fall away into the past with them, it lodges in time, in us.


  But time is not real. From Immanuel Kant to Albert Einstein, philosophers and physicists have argued that time is a frame we put on reality, not a property that exists outside us. Quantum mechanics is the physics of the nano-world where the properties of atoms give way to the properties of their parts. There are theories in quantum mechanics which set out to describe the universe, but have no need of time in their equations to do so. The universe does not need it.


  The tower is a testament to the strength of purpose of the Spanish. It endures, over 350 years after they thought the universe would end. The tower speaks of both their will and their hubris, but it was not mad. Pablo and I were speaking Spanish; the people are mostly Catholic. They succeeded, but like most ventures, not in the way either party intended.


  In the middle of the lagoon, I stepped out of the boat and walked alongside for twenty yards while Pablo winced as his expensive outboards scraped over the sand. I took one last look back at the circle of green trees stretching as far as the eye could see to east and west, broken only by the single stone tower’s serrated top. Perhaps just a little mad.


  When the boat came alongside the low pier at Holbox, the sun had gone and the last light silhouetted the palms along the soft sand. I stripped off and went for my final swim; the warm air and the silk stroke of the water rising up and over my skin were especially delicious, because I was, on the best medical opinion, supposed to be dead.


  2


  A Shadow on My Mind


  On the Saturday of the Notting Hill Carnival I was alone in the London heat, my partner Celia out of town. I left Hyde Park where, propped against a tree, I had been reading something as stuffy as the day, and crossed the Bayswater Road. In Clarendon Place I passed the beige brick house built for himself by the architect Giles Gilbert Scott, designer of the classic K2 London phone box. It was so hot the pavement began to sag beneath my feet.


  I stopped. It was firm again. I walked on a few strides and reached another patch where I felt I was crossing a slack trampoline. I went into the Kendal pub thinking that if I already had a drunken walk, a beer would do me no harm, knowing in perfect parallel this was nonsense, but I was rattled. I drank two pints of Greene King IPA and began the short walk home. The pavement remained solid. In two days Celia returned. I did not tell her.


  Over the following weeks, parts of the pavement sagged again; I blamed Westminster Council. When the grass in the park could not always support my weight, I blamed the Royal Parks. When it began happening nearly every day, I told Celia, then my GP.


  Two questions get you through year one of medical school. ‘Do you smoke?’ asked the locum.


  ‘Never smoked.’


  ‘How much alcohol do you drink?’ I gave an answer which satisfied him, thanks to my ability to divide by three. Eyes, ears and mouth were opened, and a small flashlight delved.


  Blood tests showed raised prolactin levels. ‘Have you noticed any discharge from your nipples?’ He was a fresh-faced Chinese Australian in his early thirties, chubby in an asexual way. He could shave in a minute.


  ‘No,’ I said.


  I was sent to the Chelsea and Westminster Hospital for tests on my muscles. I envisaged soft pads and minute currents which would make my skin tingle. He produced a long needle which he slid into my flesh in many places. He said, ‘Very good.’ But he was holding the blunt end of the needle.


  It wasn’t the muscles.


  X-rays were taken of my head. The consultant, James Audley, who talked me through them, was slim and well over six foot tall, suave in a natural, low-key way, who spoke in a received English accent with a warm nasal resonance. I looked at the pictures of my skull, the sharp bones of the nose and sinus, the smooth sweeping lines of the cranium and the tight meanders of the suture lines joining its plates: rivers on the moon. If it had been an X-ray of my foot or my arms I would not have thought of mortality, but it was my skull, so I became Hamlet. In that cavity, the size of my two fists, my brain stored all my experience of the universe: harm this tissue, and my universe disappears. Doctor Audley pointed to an area slightly to the front of the centre of my brain. ‘That is the pituitary gland, it releases hormones that control your other hormone glands. Below it is a shadow. That’s not normal. That’s what we are interested in. It doesn’t belong.’


  A shadow. No. I am not ready. Never will be.


  ‘We need a better look at it. X-rays show bones very well. For soft tissue we need an MRI scan, and we have a brand new machine, the best.’


  I lay in a mobile scanner unit outside St Mary’s Hospital, Paddington, beneath the second-storey corner room where Alexander Fleming discovered penicillin. A nearby pub where he drank after work is named after him, dating from the days when doctors could admit to going to pubs. It is a gentle downhill slope to Sussex Gardens, to rooms by the hour, and women who are the subject of regular liaison meetings between the Hyde Park Residents’ Association and local police. I lay still, as instructed, for fear of having to repeat it, while the moving tube of the scanner banged above me, as close to my face as the lid of a coffin. For thirty minutes there was nothing to do but think about the shadow.


  On 12 August I was back in Doctor Audley’s consulting room. Looking back at my diary there is no mention of the shadow in the weeks preceding. I was blanking it. Outside, jack-hammers were breaking up concrete slabs on the vast building site at the side of Paddington Station.


  ‘I have your results.’ He would now tell me in his warm voice how long my life might run. He leaned forward towards the screen. ‘Today is our first morning with a new improved computer system, and of course it is much slower than the old one.’ We waited. My skull appeared. The MRI scan showed very clearly the pea-sized pituitary, half a gram determining whether I have testosterone and virility, or a discharge from my nipples. Below it, and larger, lay the shadow. He clicked on zoom and the shadow grew. ‘About the size of a walnut. It’s impossible to say how long it’s been there: at least a few years; maybe all your adult life. You may have been born with it.’


  Is the shadow my excuse for me sometimes finding life difficult, my impatience – this presence that might be pressing on my brain?


  He consoled me with: ‘There is much good news.’


  (No need to worry about my three years’ missing National Insurance contributions? Or maybe shorter term: no need to waste money on new winter socks.)


  ‘The image is soft. It’s not firm tissue; it’s definitely benign …’ Benign is a beautiful word.


  ‘It’s probably a cyst filled with fluid. But it is in a good position; if it should turn malignant we can get at it from the front without disturbing the brain. We used to do terrible things, such as lift the brain to one side to have a look. Wonderful thing, MRI.’


  A benign shadow accompanying me through life for sixty years. ‘We’ll keep an eye on it.’


  I’ll buy warm socks.


  But I was not done with scans.


  2. Routes of Córdoba and Grijalva
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  We Did Not Understand What They Meant


  After the ambush at Cabo Catoche, the Spanish, on Díaz’s admission, ‘went forward very cautiously, sailing by day and anchoring by night’. I followed them overland, to see the land as they had seen it, to look at the places they had come ashore, to build a mental stage and lead the actors onto the boards. In the closing pages of The Great Gatsby, Scott Fitzgerald wrote of European sailors first seeing the New World: ‘[F]or a transitory enchanted moment man must have held his breath in the presence of this continent, compelled into an aesthetic contemplation he neither understood nor desired, face to face for the last time in history with something commensurate to his capacity for wonder.’ The key words are ‘nor desired’. The Spanish did not know what they had found, either in terms of the limitless land, almost as large as Asia, or of peoples. Land is simpler. New people bring disturbing questions. First the explorer asks, What are you? Then What are we? Questions breed other questions. Nothing will be the same again. In this journey, I wanted to explore this rupture in human thought, forced on humankind by the discovery of the Americas.


  There was another question which each generation answers differently. How could a few hundred Spanish conquer millions of Native Americans? I did not buy the story I was told at school, which many popular histories still present as true: superior civilisations progress more rapidly and conquer inferior ones.


  Columbus’s great voyage of 1492 was not a dramatic leap, before which everyone crept timidly along the coast. Of course most voyages were as commercial and routine as a modern container ship’s, but there had long been exploratory forays looking for new business opportunities. By 1341, Europeans had reached the Canary Islands. Less than a century later they were in the Azores, whose western outpost, Flores, is 1200 miles from both Newfoundland and Lisbon: they were halfway to America.


  Díaz’s boss, Córdoba, hoped to expand west from their base in Cuba, plodding along the Mexican coast at walking pace, averaging about twenty miles a day, anchoring each night. They were desperately low on water. Short of funds, they had economised on cheap barrels which leaked. After fifteen more days, they saw a large town located in an open bay. The town is once again known by its Native name: Campeche.


  After the plains of Yucatán, there was a shock as my bus neared Campeche: hills, not big, just enough to anchor the rudderless eye. Small quarries, sliced into their flanks, exposed fresh, bright limestone. Glimpses of steely sea cooled the gaze.


  The modern city is home to 210,000 people, so I was not expecting the same view as Córdoba’s lookout, but it has a historic centre where the old has been well renovated and the new located elsewhere. Pastel colours dominate, with architectural details picked out in white. The guidebook called it a Colonial fairyland: you will, it said, ‘wonder if it’s a real city’, which made me concerned that if the writer visited Oxford he might expire from an attack of the vapours. One reason it is unspoiled is the problem faced by its first tourists in 1517: ‘On these bays or inlets the water drops very considerably at low tide. So we had to leave our ships anchored more than three miles offshore.’ It is far too shallow for modern ships, so the old port area, around my hotel, is unspoiled and, due to reclamation, dry. The Hotel Campeche’s facade had undergone a heritage makeover in white and Wedgwood blue, but its reception was reassuringly Mexican. Three women whose bodies were tributes to the constraining power of Lycra pants sat at reception devouring a takeaway. The desk was strewn with tortilla crumbs and drops of sweet and sour sauce. A man as thin as a photograph brought a cooked chicken, which he put in the middle of the table. Without pausing to look at him the women tore the bird to pieces and went on feeding.


  ‘I would like a room,’ I said, to give them a hint as to why a stranger with luggage stood before them. One slid a sticky key across the desk. ‘Try number fifteen.‘ It fell on the floor. She left it for me to pick up.


  Inside the seventeenth-century city walls, built after a particularly fierce pirate raid, the Colonial era customs house on the corner of the plaza was being excavated by archaeologists. Two large sections of the city wall survive as do seven of the eight forts that once commanded it. Until the 1950s, each high tide lapped at the other side of the walls, then a promenade was built out on reclaimed land. A short taxi ride took me to the northerly of Campeche’s two satellite forts, San José del Alto, on Bellavista Hill. The low fort with pepper-pot turrets corbelled out at each corner sits behind a stone-lined moat. From this hill, I could see the kind of landscape which Córdoba might have seen. Marshes stretched north along the curve of a flat coast with irregular, featureless bays fringed with mangroves that gave way inland to true forest wherever the ground rose a few feet. It offered no encouragement to man to land or linger.


  It rained hard in the afternoon, but being rinsed by the rain was a pleasant feeling after being clammy with sweat in the jungles of the interior. When evening came, I realised that until now it had not been rain at all, just a little mist, for now the rain doubled and then stepped up to full cloudburst. The spouts from the gutters spattered onto the hotel courtyard like wet feet slapping. I was the first customer in a restaurant with a stone arcade in dressed limestone, whose proprietor, Leo, sported a Ramon Navarro moustache. Above the bar was a collage of Mexican film stars from the forties and fifties, and he struck a pose against the counter, inviting favourable comparisons. Patrolling the floor in a faintly camp manner, half stage-gaucho, half chorus-hoofer, he tried to drum up trade among the well-to-do locals returning from shopping, running hunched through the downpour to their four-wheel drives. Unlike the shoppers, he would not hurry his graceful walk, and he always arrived just after they had dived into the smoked-glass interiors. As I ate, he leaned against a pillar of the arcade, the street light behind creating a corona round his profile. ‘The rain must be done by the end of October.’ He sounded like Rex Harrison decreeing the climate for Camelot.


  When Córdoba and Díaz landed here, torn between caution and brute thirst, they landed using their boats and the smallest ship, carrying all the arms they could muster. They found a pool of clear water and began filling the barrels. Before they could finish, a party of fifty local people from the nearby town came peacefully, dressed in graceful cotton cloaks which impressed the Spanish, who were used to Caribbean islands where near-naked people lived in huts. Lack of clothing was, like sodomy, another sign of being uncivilised, even if it did not quite make you a heretic.


  Spanish curiosity had been blunted by the treachery at Cape Catoche, but after an exchange in sign language, the Natives spoke a single word to them, repeating it.


  ‘Castilan! Castilan!’


  They were asking if they came from Castile, even though the shore party had never uttered that word.


  The locals invited them to their town, and after discussion, the Spanish agreed. ‘They led us to some very large buildings of fine masonry which were the prayer-houses of their idols, the walls of which were painted with the figures of serpents and evil-looking gods. In the middle was something like an altar, covered in clotted blood, and on the other side of the idols were symbols like crosses, and all were coloured. It appeared that they had just sacrificed some Indians to their idols, so as to ensure victory over us.’


  Díaz was no stylist as a writer – modern translations smooth out his rough sentences – but he knew how to tell a story, because he then added, ‘Many Indian women were strolling about most peacefully, laughing and amusing themselves.’ Human sacrifice was normal, humdrum. Now priests appeared, their hair matted with blood from sacrifices, ‘so it would have needed cutting before it could be combed and parted’. Some priests lit a small fire while others burned copal incense over the visitors, and signed that if the Spanish were still there when the fire burned out, they would be killed. The Spanish had just thrown overboard the bodies of two men who had died of wounds sustained at Catoche. They ‘decided to retire to the coast in good order’. Their hearts sank when they saw their landing area and boats surrounded by warriors, but they were allowed to board and leave. Oddly, all Díaz has to say about the extraordinary cry, Castilan, is that ‘we did not understand what they meant’. The answer would be vital to their expedition’ success.


  The next town was Champoton, and it had a river, and a semblance of shelter in the estuary. They were concerned about the tides, and anchored three miles out.


  The bus from Campeche to Champoton runs inland before returning to the coast for the last ten miles. The rain finally stopped, and the fields came to life as horses and cattle left the shelter of trees to graze. Great egrets, elegant art nouveaux assassins, fished the pools and lagoons. The shadows of turkey vultures passed over them, the black chic of their primary feathers extended in flares, seeking the thermals’ up-draughts. The bus entered Champoton on a riverside road, followed it onto the coast, and turned left into a dark bus station. I found what seemed to be the town’s only policeman, a kindly man who not only gave me directions to the Hostal Emanuel, but escorted me there. House rules were on the wall. Number five read: In the interests of hygiene please do not spit on the walls. Most of the others were about spitting too. To summarise, they were against it.


  When Córdoba and Díaz arrived, no one had had the skill to repair the barrels, and water was again short. There followed a more grievous repetition of the encounter at Campeche. Drums beat. The Maya surrounded them, and attacked with arrows, darts and stones, quickly killing fifty Spanish. Córdoba suffered ten arrow wounds, and Díaz three, one of which pierced his ribs. The Spanish bravely drove through their attackers to the shore, but discipline had gone, and everyone tried to climb in the first boats, and they began to sink. Some men were towed back to the ships without ever getting in a boat. They abandoned all their barrels on the shore. There were no longer enough men to man all the ships, so one was burned.


  They sailed on, parched, their tongues and mouths dried and cracked. It was hard to know whether the injured were dying from wounds or thirst. After three days, a hasty shore party returned with full water barrels, which were found to hold undrinkable brine. They continued north, and on to Florida, arriving just in time to save most of their lives, though not that of Córdoba. Histories promoting the inevitable victory of the superior civilisation do not dwell on such episodes.


  The survivors made their way back to Cuba, with their captive translators, Julian and Melchior, and the gold and copper work from Catoche’s temple, which aroused Governor Velázquez’s cupidity enough to finance another expedition under Juan de Grijalva, this time with three ships, a brigantine and 240 men. Díaz did not want to go, but as soon as he was back in Cuba he put all his money into a trading enterprise which went spectacularly wrong, and he had no choice.


  They sailed from Cuba on 8 April 1518, with Julian and Melchior as translators. The officers included some names that would become famous, and others that would become infamous. The latter included Alonso de Ávila, Francisco de Montejo and Pedro de Alvarado, whom we will meet again with Cortés. Alvarado was a brave and tenacious soldier, from a family of impoverished nobles, who later became governor of Guatemala, but he was also a violent butcher and slaver. Very few surviving objects can be traced to individual conquistadors: characteristically, one fine piece of workmanship that belonged to Alvarado is four pounds of iron, possibly Italian, in the form of an engraved breastplate. I had stood before it in the British Museum, shuddering to imagine what gore had been spilled on it. An aura of danger plays around him. He was the same age as Cortés, who knew his worth and his limitations. He was the one man Cortés would not face out. Cortés liked to hunt with falcons; he named one Alvarado.


  Drifting off course on the current, they made landfall near the north-east corner of the Yucatán, discovering the low, almost featureless island of Cozumel, meaning Island of Swallows, now a shopping town for passengers on behemoth cruise ships. Blue-collar Americans troop ashore in Hawaiian shirts, and hire golf carts to tour the island. When I visited, I took the forty-five minute ferry from the mainland resort of Playa del Carmen. My efforts to imagine the early Spanish there were helped by a replica sixteenth-century caravel moored next to two 80,000 ton cruise liners: a mouse posing in front of a pair of elephants.


  I was met by tourist touts, friendly and unaggressive in the Mexican way. In 1518 the population hid. Grijalva found two old men hiding in a field because they were too infirm to run to the woods like everyone else. Díaz met a Jamaican woman who had been there two years after a fishing boat she was in drifted ashore on the same current. Her male companions had suffered an enforced career change, becoming human sacrifices. Grijalva abandoned ideas of contact and took the woman with them.


  They cruised a short way south and discovered, on blinding white limestone cliffs, a remarkable town that was a late throwback to the Classic Maya culture of six centuries before: Tulum. If you have seen a poster of cliff-top Maya ruins above a white beach, that is Tulum. I visited in broiling humid heat, walking through modest temples and apartments. It was just a country town compared with the great Mayan cities of Tikal, Palenque and Copán, but most of the Spanish hailed from towns no greater. I lunched on bread and bananas on the picture-book beach, stalked by a beefy iguana who knew there was food in the sea, but found it a great deal more agreeable to mug picnickers.


  For an era, the Maya culture had been interrupted by an influx of people who had interacted with the culture of the Mexico City area. They were the Itzá who built the staggering complex of Chichén Itzá in the heart of the Yucatán, now painstakingly recovered from the jungle. They were despised by the old Maya, suffering nicknames like ‘the lewd ones’ and ‘people without fathers or mothers,’ while their leader was ‘he who butchers our language’.


  This was not the high flowering of Maya culture that built the complexes of palaces, offices, temples and ball-game courts that draw visitors from all over the world. This was a late reversion to pride half-forgotten. But the Spanish saw a city with enclosing walls, and white-washed stone temples with gaudy murals. It was plainly a sophisticated culture, perhaps powerful. They did not make contact with the people of Tulum.


  The appearance offshore of ships, to people who knew only rafts and canoes, must have been a disturbing sight that gnawed at memory. It was as though spacecraft were to hover above Hastings for an hour, then disappear. There would be time for everyone to hear of the apparition, and stare at things never seen before that refused to resolve themselves into any meaning.


  The fleet sailed round the Yucatán, reaching Champoton, where Díaz would have remembered the fifty killed ashore on his previous voyage, and the six further corpses which followed, flung overboard as they died. The Spanish had learned that the Native ‘armour’, quilted jackets stuffed hard with cotton, was lighter and cooler than iron armour, and better at stopping arrows. Many Spanish now wore it, and when, as expected, they were attacked, sixty were injured but few died. The fields where they fought were full of small locusts, Díaz wrote, which the armies startled into flight. Soldiers ignored new volleys of arrows, mistaking them for more locusts. Grijalva had teeth broken by arrows, but with swords and crossbows they drove the attackers into a swamp. After the skirmish, the Spanish stayed three days, making gifts and trying to reassure them of their good intentions.


  Champoton seemed a harmless place today, until I tried to get anything done. The ATM would not read my card, restaurants seemed as rare as hotels, so when I found a bar with comfortable seats and no one in it, I ordered an early evening beer from a tall, stout man around seventy years old, with a slow, grand manner about him. He asked for the money, which was odd, as everywhere ran tabs. I paid and put on my iPod to learn the lyrics to a Warren Zeavon song about Veracruz and Zapata. I had two verses, when the stout party wiped a finger across his military moustache, pointed at me, and said ‘Come on, get out, I am closing.’


  I said ‘Fine, I’ll just finish this and go.’


  He said ‘I am closing now.’ Mexican bars keep strange hours, but I could not imagine any law required him to serve me a drink at 6:15 and throw me out at 6:20.


  I won’t say I had never been thrown out of a pub before, but I have usually been allowed time to drink and cause trouble first, and the last time was forty years ago. I looked round the room for clues as to why this might be happening. The walls were papered with handwritten notices, lamenting, dear customer that, times being what they were, this thing had to be brought to your attention. A little way along another screed pointed out a lapse in his customers’ standards. They recorded all those matters of behaviour that require only a friendly hand on the shoulder and the words: ‘Knock it off, Sunbeam.’ This was not the proprietor’s way; he wrote an editorial. He was what ethnographers call a prat.


  Another man came in, also tall, but thin and greasy. They conferred and approached my table. He was about my age. I thought about three men with a combined age of two hundred, in a bar fight over the speed at which one bottle of beer should be drunk.


  ‘Out!’


  I thought I would keep it simple. ‘No.’ I could obviously play safe and go, but early training made it difficult to leave a drink I had paid for.


  ‘I’ll call the police,’ said the stout party.


  I thought of the kindly and small policeman who would remember me as the Gringo he had escorted to his hostel. He would find a sober tourist drinking what he had paid for. ‘Go on then.’


  The stout party’s agricultural eyebrows shot up his face, ‘Aren’t you bothered?’


  ‘No.’ I put the earphones back in. I do not know how to say Mexican stand-off in Spanish, but I suppose we had one. I drank the fizzy beer as fast as I could without giving him the impression I was rushing because of him. I left, smiling at him, while quietly calling him names in English, something I am sure he guessed. I still have no idea what this was about.


  Continuing west, Grijalva at last reached a fine harbour running deep into the land. They called it Puerto Escondido, or Hidden Port. Everywhere there were signs of abandoned homes. They took a greyhound bitch ashore and with her help hunted down ten deer and many rabbits. She became over-excited, and when it was time to sail could not be found. She was left to found her own colony. Around this time, a distant prince received a report of strangers on the coast and sent servants with gifts and a very disturbing order. ‘If, by any chance, he does not like the food that you gave him, and is desirous of devouring human beings, and wishes to eat you, allow yourselves to be eaten.’ The prince would look after their widows and orphans. He received reports of the Spaniards’ every move.


  The coast they now sailed is more hospitable with its harbours, but none is easy. All over Champoton’s estuary I could pick out changes in the texture of the water surface caused by sand bars and shoals. At their next landing the locals had seen them in time to call in reinforcements from all over the region, and negotiated from a position of strength. They exchanged gifts, including small items of gold jewellery; the Natives did not overlook the way in which the Spaniards’ eyes lit up at the sight of gold. Through Julian and Melchior, they explained it was all they had, but in the direction of the sunset there was much more. They pointed west and repeated ‘Colua, Colua,’ and ‘Mexico, Mexico.’


  They continued along the coast. At one point Alvarado was a little ahead and entered a large estuary, and traded for food. When Grijalva caught up, he tore a strip off him for his irresponsibility in going alone. Alvarado was showing himself once again to be a loose cannon.


  Soon they were invited ashore, but Julian and Melchior could not understand the language because they had left Maya lands and were among speakers of Nahuatl, the language of the Aztecs. Grijalva took possession of the country in the name of his majesty Emperor Charles V. The Natives carried on with their daily lives. The Spaniards’ own world was being challenged each day, seeing new animals, some, like armadillos, unlike any they’d ever seen. Questions would form in their minds. How, after Noah’s ark landed on Mount Sinai, did these animals get here, across 4000 miles of ocean, and why were there none like them on the other continents?


  Grijalva’s modest fleet made its way up the coast until they were near modern Veracruz, having sailed about 900 miles from their first landfall at Cozumel. Five miles offshore, they saw an island, which they described as if it were substantial. The island is now a low discus of marine deposits on top of a reef, and it must have been heavily eroded in the last half millennium, for today it is no more than 350 yards long. Smoke was rising from fires, and they took boats ashore and, records Bernal Díaz, ‘found two stone buildings of good workmanship, each with a flight of steps leading up to a kind of altar, and on those altars were evil-looking idols, which were their gods. Here we found five Indians who had been sacrificed to them on that very night. Their chests had been struck open and their arms and thighs cut off, and the walls of these buildings were covered in blood. We called this island the Isla de los Sacrificios, as it is now named on the charts.’


  They went ashore and traded trifles with nervous Indians. Grijalva managed to sail without either side provoking a fight. He reached another island, now attached by reclamation to the mainland, in the heart of the port of Veracruz. They had found the best natural harbour on the coast. They also saw a temple to the god Tezcatlipoca, and the corpses of two boys, whose chests had been cut open and their hearts torn out. Governor Velázquez had given orders to ‘settle if they dared and if the land was suitable for settlement.’ Grijalva was now convinced this was continental land and wanted to stay. Many were unnerved, and disagreed; Díaz’s no-nonsense verdict was ‘We found the mosquitoes unbearable and realised we were wasting our time.’


  A compromise sent Pedro de Alvarado back to Cuba with all the loot they had traded, and the rest stayed. ‘Pedro de Alvarado was a good storyteller,’ notes Díaz, ‘and they say that Diego Velázquez could do nothing but embrace him.’ They grew over-excited about jewellery which contained little metal, and caroused for eight days.


  Back in Mexico, the expedition petered out, but before they left, Díaz, intending to return, planted orange pips. The priests at the local temple watched this, and watered and weeded the unfamiliar plants which grew from them. This was the introduction of the fruit to the New World. In forty-five days, Grijalva reached Cuba and presented the additional gold they had obtained since Alvarado’s departure. Velázquez’s greedy soul was roused, and surrounded by ambitious men, he began to fear that when the portion of one fifth, payable to the king, reached Spain and created a stir, he would be replaced by some court favourite. A second seed had been planted, nurturing the bitter fruit of envy.


  4


  The Utterances of Fools


  Governor Diego Velázquez gathered ten ships for a new expedition. There was no shortage of capable leaders, but whom could Velázquez trust? His secretary Andrés de Duero and the royal accountant Amador de Lares praised a certain Hernán Cortés. Cortés’s secretary Gómara claims ‘they promptly reached an agreement’. The deal was much more devious. Cortés agreed to share his spoils with the officials, if they could secure his appointment as leader ahead of more obvious candidates.


  Velázquez gave Cortés the job, and they walked together to church, with the new leader at the governor’s right hand, to spell out the approval. A local buffoon nicknamed ‘mad Cervantes’ ran alongside them, goading the governor: ‘Take care, Diego, or he may run off with your fleet, for he knows how to look after himself.’ A good slapping from secretary Duero did not discourage the heckler, who taunted, ‘I’d rather go off with him to these rich new lands than stay behind and watch you weeping over the bad bargain you have made today!’


  Díaz commented: ‘Moreover all that he said came true, as they say the utterances of fools often do.’


  Cortés was an interesting character. The month before I went to Mexico, I toured his homeland of Extremadura in September, when the furnace of the southern Spanish summer had scarcely abated. I wanted to see their Old World, the hearths the Conquistadors had come from. I visited Trujillo, home of the Pizarro brothers, who conquered Peru eleven years after the fall of Mexico, and of Orellana, the discoverer of the Amazon. Then I went to Medellín, the rustic original after which the Columbian drugs capital is named. It was home to the Pizarros’ second cousins, the slightly more respectable Cortés clan.


  In Trujillo, the dominant impression, even today, is that it was made by the Moors. I drove across the featureless Trujillo and Cáceres plain in eye-melting heat, and parked a couple of miles outside the town. I climbed a jumble of granite boulders, crumbling back into their constituent minerals; the sand under my shoes glittered with mica. An old saying goes: ‘Whichever way you go to Trujillo, you have to walk a league of rocks.’ From here, on the north-west side, the suffering fields ran up the slope to a 600-yard line of ramparts running the width of the hill, spiked in the centre by the towers of the church of Santa María la Mayor. It was formerly a mosque, and before that, a Visigothic temple.


  The air was sibilant with a barely perceptible breeze tickling through dry grasses. In a stone hut hounds whined quietly, hoping the door would open and their master would take them hunting.


  When the Visigoths secured Spain around 600 AD, Trujillo was one of its oldest cities. In the eighth century the Arabs wrested control of the area, and in the ninth century it was inhabited by Berbers. It changed hands between Christians and Moors until the final Moorish defeat in 1232. Local nobility, vying for pre-eminence, kept the town bellicose for another two hundred years. But the past leaned down on them. The walls that enclosed them each night, as the seven city gates shut, were built by the Moors. The gateway into the towering keep guarding them was through a Moorish arch pinched in at its springing points to form a keyhole shape. The water they drank every day came from Arab cisterns, founded on Roman structures. I came across their cool waters with sudden pleasure as I wound through the narrow streets. All around were reminders of how far the town’s sons travelled: gardens where brown maize leaves chattered when the breeze stirred, and on every patch of scrub land heavily fruited prickly pear cactuses, native to Mexico, wound their destructive roots into buried masonry.


  It was a poor world, worked by humble families. Those Pizarros who made it home paraded their loot in the small town they had come from, building flashy mansions on the square. Francisco Pizarro died in Peru, but his brother Hernán returned, acquired the plot where his father had owned a small house and garden on the square, and built a four-storey granite heap. This was his Essex manor, his Ponderosa from the Wickes catalogue, Florentine page. Granite is a brute to carve, and the bulk of the mansion is as plain and lumpen as their ambitions, but on the corner facing the plaza he set the new Pizarro coat of arms, which included seven Inca princes chained together at the neck. Up the hill is Casa Francisco Pizarro, which was home to the conquistador’s synonymous great uncle. It is a small house made pretty with potted flowers and a creeper. There is a brightly painted mail box, on which I imagined a note: ‘Señor Pizarro is out conquering new worlds and enslaving civilisations, but if you would like to leave a message there’s no point, he is illiterate.’


  From the ramparts of the castle at the top of the town, I could see the slope below, relieved by clumps of olive trees, but beyond that, as far as the eye could follow, was a plain of yellow grass. We can whimsically imagine past ages as simpler and easier, and be misled in the art gallery by idyllic landscapes of flocks of sheep, doing nothing all day but grow wool and mutton for happy peasants, asleep under a hedge with a bottle of Rioja. Life was brutal and brittle. Most of Europe lacked heavy grain-growing soils to feed its cities. Fernand Braudel, the supreme historian of the Mediterranean, put it simply: agriculture ‘was an industry that was always in difficulty’. Spain was being devastated by three million Merino sheep wandering over Extremadura and Andalucía devouring the grass, exposing the soils. From 1450 there was over-grazing, over-farming and erosion. By the sixteenth century, few natural ecosystems survived. Even trees were scarce; Spain imported wood from around 1500. In the 1520s, one observer wryly remarked that the wood fuelling the cooking pot cost more than the food in it. Extremadura was a place where go-ahead people got out.


  I drove into Medellín over a causeway crossing a valley floor green only at the river’s edge. A yard from the bank the grass was parched, and the baking air shimmered up the hill towards the castle ranged along its ridge, terminating in a stubby round tower at one end, and squat square ones at the other. The ruins of a Roman theatre stood on the hill’s flank. The town Cortés grew up in had a busy synagogue and mosque. This view would have changed little since the time of Cortés, as the town is hidden on the other side of the hill. Medellín’s famous son may have conquered an empire and become a marquis, but his hometown’s population is the same as it was in his day: two thousand five hundred. In the middle of the afternoon I photographed the main street without trouble, because I could stand in the middle of it. The shops and cafes were all closed: its inhabitants might have gone to the moon. One thing might not have surprised the arrogant and ambitious young man. His statue now stands in the square, above some demeaningly domestic topiary.


  He was born in 1485 and, according to Gómara, Cortés’s secretary-turned-biographer, ‘[a]s an infant Hernán Cortés was so frail that many times he was on the point of dying’. But he was an hidalgo, a corruption of hijo de algo, literally the son of a someone. The qualification was modest: being able to name all four grandparents. It whispers volumes about the society in which many could not. It may have become important because identifying your grandparents would prove or otherwise the absence of Jews or Moors in your blood. His grandparents ‘had little wealth but much honour’.


  Located in the wildest part of Extremadura, Medellín was a rebel town, which, during a four-year war of succession, had supported the failed claimant to the Spanish throne, and with Mérida was the last town to recognise Isabela of Castile. Legal records show the town did not calm down as a result; assaults and outrages continued to fill the court records. Despite this turmoil, Cortés had an education of sorts, although how much, is argued about. Aged fourteen, he was sent to the house of a kinsman of his father, in Salamanca, where he studied either grammar or Latin, depending on the source. Salamanca was home to Spain’s oldest university, with scholars in many fields. When Christopher Columbus was required to explain his geographical theories, he was quizzed by the geographers of Salamanca. Cortés’s family must have made sacrifices for Hernán, hoping a lettered career would pay them all back. Instead he left early, after two years: ‘either disgusted with school life or having changed his mind or, perhaps from lack of money. His return vexed his parents exceedingly, they being annoyed with him for having abandoned his studies. They had destined him for the law, the richest and most honourable career of all, because he was very intelligent and clever in everything he did.’ He was also ‘restless, haughty, mischievous, and given to quarrelling’.


  He opted for a voyage to the Indies of the New World with Nicolás de Ovando, a favourite of Queen Isabela, who was sailing with a huge fleet of thirty ships and tens of thousands of colonists, to become the new Governor and Captain General of the Indies. Ovando knew Cortés personally, which would probably secure him a berth, and the young man’s head been turned by the quantities of gold being brought back from the New World. The stock biography of a hero would see fate and sage judgement unite to take him where destiny beckoned. But while the fleet was being readied, Cortés, who in Díaz’s words was ‘overfond of women’, was leaving a lady’s bedroom by walking along the top of the garden wall in order not to wake her husband. The wall collapsed, the husband appeared, and was only prevented from killing Cortés by his mother-in-law’s begging. Cortés’s leg was injured, and perhaps through infection, he developed a fever, and, in short, missed the boat. Gómara takes up the story, and although Díaz thinks him a sycophant, the tale is no promotional puff: ‘He decided to go to Italy, as he had first thought of doing, and set out for Valencia. He did not get to Italy, however, but wandered about idly for nearly a year, not without hardship and privation. He then returned to Medellín resolved to go to the Indies, and his parents gave him their blessing and money for the voyage.’


  At some point he had begun the long training required to become a notary in Seville, handling day-to-day legal work, and he continued his apprenticeship in Hispaniola. This kept his Latin in use, and he would always enjoy displaying his credentials as an educated man, in a manner truly well-educated people do not need to do. What undoubtedly shows through in his writings and dealings is a knowledge of the law, and an understanding that in public life and the Court the law mattered, or at least making a show of proceeding according to law mattered. But when he quotes literature or the Bible, we sense a smooth talker with a stock of aphorisms, rather than someone drawing on a reservoir of deep reading. The hack lawyer, trapping a witness, may intone, ‘Oh, what a tangled web we weave, When first we practise to deceive!’ but it does not mean he is familiar with the other forty thousand words of Sir Walter Scott’s interminable poem Marmion.


  Oxford professor John Elliott has tracked down the sources of Cortés’s quotes, and, even more interestingly, the places where the quotes reappeared. Quoting someone does not mean you have read the original. So he seems to quote Livy (‘There is nothing like necessity for sharpening men’s wits’) and Aristotle (‘There should be nothing superfluous on earth’) as a cynical excuse for attacking Natives. But if he had read the novel Celestina published in 1499 he would have found both quotes already in his native Spanish. Professor Elliott concludes ‘no world was so rich in imagination and so infinitely adaptable as the mental world of Hernán Cortés,’ meaning he could make events seem whatever suited him. Subterfuge is a more valuable aid than any fine style or erudition.


  Aged nineteen he made his way down to San Lúcar de Barrameda, on the estuary of the Guadalquivir river, which flows through Cordoba, then Seville, to reach the sea just north-west of Cádiz. The low sandy banks make modest scenery, but each August its beaches host the oldest horse races in Spain. San Lúcar is now a middling-sized town with the lowest personal incomes in all Spain. Around 1505 it was one of the base ports for the Indies trade, and would have given the country boy a sniff of the exoticism waiting for him over 4000 miles away.


  He also quickly sampled how flexible ethics could be in his new profession of adventurer. His billet was on a ship belonging to Alonso Quintero from Palos, the home port, and training ground of Columbus’s pilots, the Pinzón brothers. Palos now sits above a river so silted up the town has no feel of having been a port. I stayed in the dapper hotel on the main square, which is not named for the flagship Santa María, but for a Pinzón vessel, La Pinta. The town boasts one statue to the famous, and it is dedicated to the local boys, the Pinzóns. The Genoese Columbus does not get a look-in. Quintero was, like the others, carrying goods to trade in the Indies, where, because of their isolation, prices were high.


  On 13 February the fleet sailed first to Gomera Island in the Canaries, where they took on supplies. One night, without telling any other captain, Quintero sailed off in order to arrive first and obtain premium prices for his goods. Within a day or so, a storm dismasted him, and he limped back to Gomera for repairs, and had the cheek to beg the fleet to wait for him. Surprisingly, they agreed. When they sailed, Quintero found his vessel swifter than the other ships, and let her pull away, but at some point their navigation broke down and they lost track of where they were. The pilot blamed the captain and the captain blamed the pilot. They were nearly out of food, and were dependent on rainwater for drink. Passengers and crew alike were fearful, confessing their sins, weeping, or just plain dying. To illustrate how remote, in travel time, they were from Europe, the return voyage of Apollo 11 to make the first moon landing took eight days, three hours and eighteen minutes. Cortés’s passage from Spain, with a stop at the Canaries, had taken two months. On Easter Sunday they sighted Hispaniola. Last to arrive, their goods fetched the lowest prices. Welcome, Hernán, to your career.
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